Eighteen

Merry it was to laugh there— 
Where death becomes absurd and life absurder.

For power was on us as we slashed bones bare

Not to feel sickness or remorse of murder.

—Wilfred Owen

“Apologia Pro Poemate Meo”

     Filing up the trail that weaved through the stunted scrub jungle surrounding the outpost, the six men in the patrol walked on their bruised and rotted feet as if they were walk​ing barefoot over broken glass. The patrol was waved in, and the marines climbed over the rusty perimeter wire one by one. The foothills where they had been all morning stretched behind them, toward 5the moss-green mountains wavering in the heat-shimmer.
     The heat was suffocating, as it always was between mon​soon storms. The air seemed about to explode. Sun-dazed, half the platoon were dozing beneath their hooches. Others cleaned their rifles, which would start to corrode in a few hours and have to be cleaned again. A few men squatted in a circle around a tin of cheese which had been brought to Charley Hill with the twice-10weekly ration resupply. The cheese was a special treat: a change from the dreary diet of C-rations, and it eased the diarrhea that gripped us. Squatting around the tin, the men ate with their fingers, grunting their approval.
     “Hey, we got some cheese,” one of them said to Crowe’s patrol. “Good cheese. You guys want some cheese?”
15     Too tired to eat, the men in the patrol shook their heads and hobbled toward their foxholes. Their skin was pallid except for their faces and necks, their hands, and a V​-shaped spot on their chests, which were tanned. One rifle-man’s bicep bore a tattoo: a skull and crossbones underscored by the words USMC - Death before Dishonor. I laughed to myself. With the way things had been going since Operation Long Lance, I was confident that the marine would not 20have to worry about facing the choice. Page and Navarro, killed a few days before, had faced no choice. The booby-trapped artillery shell had not given them any time to choose, or to take cover, or to do anything but die in​stantly. Both had had only four days left of their Vietnam tours, thus confirming the truth in the proverb, “You’re never a short-timer until you’re home.”

     I was sitting on the roof of the outpost’s command bunker, sunning my legs. The corpsmen 25said that sun and air would help dry the running sores on feet and lower legs. The disease had been diagnosed as tropical impetigo. I had probably contracted it on our last patrol - three days in a monsoon rain that would have impressed Noah; three days of slogging through the slime of drowned swamps. The corpsmen had given me penicillin shots, but even antibiotics were not effective in that climate. Pus continued to ooze from the ulcers, so that whenever I took off my 30boots to change socks I had to hold my breath against the stench of my own rotting flesh. Well, I could have caught something a lot worse than a skin disease.

     Holding a map in one hand, Crowe walked up to me to make his report. Crowe, called Pappy by the teenage pla​toon because he had reached the advanced age of twenty-three - growing older than twenty-one was an achievement for most combat riflemen - had a face that made his 35nickname seem appropriate. The months of wincing at snipers’ bullets, the sleepless nights, and the constant strain of look​ing for trip wires had aged him. Behind his glasses, Crowe’s eyes were as dull as an old man’s.

     He said his patrol had picked up some intelligence infor​mation. Spreading the map over the bunker’s sandbagged roof, he pointed to a village called “Giao-Tri.”

40     “You remember those three VCs [VC is short for Viet Cong – the army of North Vietnam] we found in this ville two weeks ago, sir?”

     I said that I did. He was referring to an earlier patrol and the three young men we had brought in for questioning. Since Giao-Tri was a village usually controlled by the Viet Cong, it was unusual to find young men there. The three youths, moreover, had been carrying papers that were 45ob​vious forgeries, and their ages had been falsified. McCloy, who by this time spoke fluent Vietnamese, and an ARVN [Army of the Republic of Vietnam – the regular army of South Vietnam] militia sergeant gave them a perfunctory interrogation. They were released when the sergeant determined that their papers had been forged and their ages falsified so they could stay in school and out of the army. They were draft-dodgers, not Viet Cong.

50     “Well, sir,” Crowe went on, “it looks like two of ‘em are Charlies [nickname for Viet Cong] after all, the two older ones.”

     “How’d you find that out?”

     “The younger one told me, Le Dung I think his name is. We found him in the ville again and I started to question him. You know, a little English, a little Vietnamese, a little sign language. He 55said the other two was VC, sappers [engineers or builders working for an army] who was makin’ mines and booby traps. I think he’s tellin’ the truth because one of the other two walked by when we was talkin’ and the kid shut up. He looked scared as hell and shut up. So, when the other dude’s out of sight, I ask the kid, ‘VC? Him VC?’ And the kid nods his head and says ‘VC.’ The third guy is standin’ over by a house, buildin’ a gate or somethin’. I pointed at the guy 60and said, ‘VC there?’ The kid nods again and says that both the Charlies live in that house. Then I broke out my map and the kid said there were five Cong in Binh Thai, sappers too, and armed with automatic rifles. He drew me a picture of the weapons. Here.” Crowe handed me a piece of paper with a crude drawing of a top-loading automatic rifle that resembled a British Bren. “Then he says there’s a platoon - fifteen VC - ​in Hoi-Vuc and they’ve got a mortar and a 65machine gun.”

     Angry, I swung off the bunker. “Crowe, why in hell didn’t you capture those two and bring ‘em in?”

     “Well, I don’t know, sir. I mean, Mister McCloy cleared ‘em. He said they was okay before.”

     “Goddamnit, we didn’t know this before. Crowe, this company’s lost thirty-five men in the 70last month. All of them to mines and booby traps, and you get a guy who shows you two sappers and you leave them there.”

     “Sorry, sir. It’s just that they were cleared. Hell, we never know who’s the guerrilla and who ain’t around here.”

     “No shit. Listen, the info’s good. You did all right. Shove off and take a break.”

 75    “Yes, sir.”

     I went down into the bunker, where Jones was cleaning his rifle. It was stifling inside, the air stale with the smells of sweat, rifle oil, and the canvas haversacks hanging from pegs driven into the mud walls. Cranking the handle of the field phone, I called company HO with Crowe’s report, dreading the lecture I would get from Captain Neal. Why didn’t he capture them? What’s 80the matter with that platoon of yours, lieutenant? Aren’t your people thinking?

     Having lost about thirty percent of his command in the past month alone, Neal had become almost intolerable. I assumed battalion was putting a great deal of pressure on him; since Operation Long Lance ended, the company had killed only three guerrillas and captured two more, while suffering six times as many casualties itself. C Company’s kill ratio was below 85standard. Bodies. Bodies. Bodies. Bat​talion wanted bodies. Neal wanted bodies. He lectured his officers on the importance of aggressiveness and made im​plied threats when he thought we lacked that attribute. “Your people aren’t being aggressive enough,” he told me when one of my squads failed to pursue two VC who had fired on them one night. I argued that the squad leader had done the sensible thing: with only eight men, at night, and a mile from friendly lines, he had 90no idea if those two guer​rillas were alone or the point men for a whole battalion. Had he pursued, his squad might have fallen into a trap. “Mister Caputo, when we make contact with the enemy, we maintain it, not break it,” said Neal. “You had best get those people of yours in shape.” Meekly, so meekly that I despised myself as much as I despised him, I said, “Yes, sir. I’ll get them in shape.” A few days later, Neal told me and the other officers that he was adopting a 95new policy: from now on, any marine in the company who killed a confirmed Viet Cong would be given an extra beer ration and the time to drink it. Because our men were so exhausted, we knew the promise of time off would be as great an induce​ment as the extra ration of beer. So we went along with the captain’s policy, without reflecting on its moral implica​tions. That is the level to which we had sunk from the lofty idealism of a year before. We were going to kill 100people for a few cans of beer and the time to drink them.

     McCloy answered the phone. Neal was busy elsewhere, so I was spared another chewing out. I read Crowe’s report to McCloy, who of course asked, “Why didn’t they bring them in?” I explained. Murph said he would pass the information on to battalion S-2. Yes, I thought, putting the receiver back in its canvas-covered case, and they’ll pass it on to regi​mental S-2, who’ll pass 105it on to division G-2, who’ll bury it in a file cabinet, and the sappers will go on blowing up Charley Company. An immense weariness came over me. I was fed up with it, with the futile patrols and inconclusive operations, with the mines and the mud and the diseases. Only a month remained to my Vietnam tour, and my one hope was to leave on my own feet and not on a stretcher or in a box. Only a month. What was a month? In Vietnam, a month was an eternity. 110Page and Navarro had had only four days left. I was much haunted by their deaths.

     Jones, leaning against a wall of the bunker, was still cleaning his rifle. There was a sheen of sweat on his face. His cleaning rod, drawn back and forth through the rifle bore, made a monotonous, scraping sound. I lay down on the poncho that was spread across the floor. Sleep. I had to get some sleep. Taking one of the haversacks off its peg, I propped it against my helmet to 115make a pillow and rolled onto my side, grimacing when my trousers, which had been glued to the pussy sores, pulled loose and tore away bits of flesh. To sleep, to sleep, perchance not to dream. I had again begun to have some very bad dreams.

     The month that followed the attack in the Vu Gia valley had itself been a bad dream. I can recall only snatches of that time; fragmentary scenes flicker on my mental screen like excerpts 120from a film: There is a shot of the company marching near, a tree line that was napalmed during the assault. Through my field glasses, I see pigs rooting around forms which resemble black logs, but which are charred corpses. Click. The next scene. A crazy, running fire-fight on the last day of the operation, the Viet Cong dashing down one side of a wide river, firing as they run, my platoon running down a dike on the other side, firing back. Bullets dance in the rice 125paddy between the river and the dike, then spurt toward Jones and me. As the rounds strike at our feet the two of us dive over backward into a heap of buffalo dung from which we leap up laughing insanely, the offal dripping from our faces. Then the company’s mortar crew is dropping sixties on the enemy and my platoon pours rifle fire into the pall of shell smoke. An artillery observers flying over in a spotter plane, calls on the radio to say that he sees seven 130enemy bodies lying on a trail near the river bank.

     Click. The next scenes take place at the company’s opera​tion area near Danang. They are all of a piece, shots of patrols coming back diminished by two or three or half a dozen men. The soundtrack is monotonous: the thud of ex​ploding mines, the quick rattle of small-arms fire, the thrash​ing of marines pursuing enemy ambush parties, almost never finding them, men crying 135“Corpsman!” and the wap​-wap-wap noise of the medevac helicopters. Click. There is one piece of time-lapse footage, but instead of showing flowers blooming, it shows our company slowly dissolving.  With each frame, the ranks get shorter and shorter, and the faces of the men are the faces of men who feel doomed, who are just waiting their turn to be blown up by a mine. Click. A shot of my platoon on a night patrol, slogging through a blackness so deep that each 140man must hold onto the handle of the entrenching tool on the back of the man in front of him. A driving rain whips us as we stumble blindly through the dark. Holding onto an E-tool handle with one hand, I am holding a compass in the other. I cannot see the marine who is an arm’s length in front of me, only the pale, lumi​nous dial of the compass. Click. There is a scene of PFC Arnett, who has been hit by a mine. He is lying on his back in the rain, wrapped in scarlet 145ribbons of his own blood. He looks up at me with the dreamy, far-off expression of a saint in a Renaissance painting and says, “This is my third Purple Heart and they ain’t gettin’ no more chances. I’m goin’ home.”

     Other episodes reflect what the war has done to us. A corporal is chasing a wounded Viet Cong after a fire-fight. He follows the man’s blood trail until he finds him crawling toward the 150entrance to a tunnel. The enemy soldier turns his face toward his pursuer, perhaps to surrender, perhaps to beg for mercy. The corporal walks up to him and casually shoots him in the head. Click. Sergeant Horne is standing in front of me with a nervous smile on his face. He says, “Sir, Mister McKenna’s gone crazy.” I ask how he has arrived at this diagnosis. “We were set in in a daylight ambush near Hoi-Vuc,” Horne says. “An old woman came by and spotted us, so we 155held her so she wouldn’t warn the VC that we were around. She was chewing betel-nut and just by acci​dent spit some of it in Mister McKenna’s face. The next thing I knew, he took out his pistol and shot her in the chest. Then he told one of the corpsmen to patch her up, like he didn’t realize that he’d killed her.” There is a quick-cut to the officer’s tent that night. In the soft light of a kerosene lamp, McKenna and I are talking about the murder. He says, “Phil, the gun just 160went off by itself. You know, it really bothers me.” I reply that it should. “No, that isn’t what I mean,” McKenna says. “I mean the thing that bothers me about killing her is that it doesn’t bother me.”

     I slept briefly and fitfully in the bunker and woke up agitated. Psychologically, I had never felt worse. I had been awake for no more than a few seconds when I was seized by the same 165feeling that had gripped me after my nightmare about the mutilated men in my old platoon: a feeling of be​ing afraid when there was no reason to be. And this unrea​soning fear quickly produced the sensation I had often had in action: of watching myself in a movie. Although I have had a decade to think about it, I am still unable to explain why I woke up in that condition. I had not dreamed. It was a quiet day, one of those days when it was difficult to believe a war was on. 170Yet, my sensations were those of a man actu​ally under fire. Perhaps I was suffering a delayed reaction to some previous experience. Perhaps it was simply battle fa​tigue. I had been in Vietnam for nearly a year, and was probably more worn-out than I realized at the time. Months of accumulated pressures might have chosen just that moment to burst, suddenly and for no apparent reason. What​ever the cause, I was outwardly normal, if a little edgier than usual; but 175inside, I was full of turbulent emotions and disordered thoughts, and I could not shake that weird sensa​tion of being split in two.

     Thinking fresh air might help, I climbed out of the musty bunker. I only felt worse, irritated by the pain that came each time my trousers tore loose from the ulcers. The sores itched unbearably, but I couldn’t scratch them because scratching would spread the disease. The late-180afternoon air was oppressive. Heat came up from the baked earth and pressed down from the sky. Clouds were beginning to build in gray towers over the mountains, threatening more rain. Rain. Rain. Rain. When would it stop raining? From the heads rose the stench of feces, the soupy deposits of our diseased bowels. My need for physical activity overcame my discomfort and I set out to walk the perimeter. Around and around I walked, sometimes chatting with the men, 185sometimes sitting and staring into the distance. A few yards outside the perimeter, the walls of a half-ruined building shone bright white in the sun’s glare. It made me squint to look at them, but I did anyway. I looked at them for a long time. I don’t know why. I just remember staring at them, feeling the heat grow more oppressive as the clouds piled up and. advanced across the sky. The building had been a temple of some kind, but it was now little more than a pile of stones. 190Vines were growing over the stones and over the jagged, bullet-scarred walls, which turned from white to hot-pink as the sun dropped into the clouds. Behind the building lay the scrub jungle that covered the slopes of the hill. It smelled of decaying wood and leaves, and the low trees encircled the outpost like the disorderly ranks of a be​sieging army Staring at the jungle and at the ruined temple, hatred welled up in me; a hatred for this green, moldy, alien world in which 195we fought and died

     My thoughts and feelings over the next few hours are irretrievably jumbled now, but at some point in the early evening, I was seized by an irresistible compulsion to do something. “Something’s got to be done” was about the clearest thought that passed through my brain. I was fixated on the company’s intolerable predicament. We could now muster only half of our 200original strength, and half of our effectives had been wounded at least once. If we suffered as many casualties in the next month as we had in the one past, we would be down to fifty or sixty men, little more than a reinforced platoon. It was madness for us to go on walking down those trails and tripping booby traps without any chance to retaliate. Retaliate. The word rang in my head. I will retaliate. It was then that my chaotic thoughts began to focus on the two men whom 205Le Dung, Crowe’s infor​mant, had identified as Viet Cong. My mind did more than focus on them; it fixed on them like a heat-seeking missile fixing on the tailpipe of a jet. They became an obsession. I would get them. I would get them before they got any more of us; before they got me. I’m going to get those bastards, I said to myself, suddenly feeling giddy.

     “I’m going to get those bastards,” I said aloud, rushing down into the bunker. Jones looked at 210me quizzically. “The VC, Jones, I’m going to get them.” I was laughing. From my map case, I took out an overlay of the patrol route which 2d squad was to follow that night. It took them to a trail junction just outside the village of Giao-Tri. It was perfect. If the two VC walked out of the village, they would fall into the ambush. I almost laughed out loud at the idea of their deaths. If the VC did not leave the village, then the squad would infiltrate into it, Crowe guiding them to 215the house Le Dung had pointed out, and capture them - “snatch,” in the argot. Yes, that’s what I would do. A snatch patrol. The squad would capture the two VC and bring them to the outpost. I would interrogate them, beat the hell out of them if I had to, learn the locations of other enemy cells and units, then kill or capture those. I would get all of them. But suppose the two guerrillas resisted? The patrol would kill them, then. Kill VC. That’s what we were supposed to do. 220Bodies. Neal wanted bodies. Well, I would give him bodies, and then my platoon would be rewarded instead of reproved. I did not have the authority to send the squad into the village. The patrol order called only for an ambush at the trail junction. But who was the real authority out on that isolated outpost. I was. I would take matters into my own hands. Out there, I could do what I damned well pleased. And I would. The idea of taking independent action made me giddier still. 225I went out to brief the patrol.

     In the twilight, Allen, Crowe, Lonehill, and two other riflemen huddled around me. Wearing bush hats, their hands and faces blackened with shoe polish, they looked appropriately ferocious. I told them what they were to do, but, in my addled state of mind, I was almost incoherent at times. I laughed frequently and made several bloodthirsty jokes that probably left them with the 230impression I wouldn’t mind if they summarily executed both Viet Cong. All the time, I had that feeling of watching myself in a film. I could hear myself laughing, but it did not sound like my laugh.

     “Okay, you know what to do,” I said to Allen, the patrol leader. “You set in ambush for a while. If nobody comes by, you go into the ville and you get them. You get those god-damned 235VC. Snatch ‘em up and bring ‘em back here, but if they give you any problems, kill ‘em.”

     “Sir, since we ain’t supposed to be in the ville, what do we say if we have to kill ‘em?”

     “We’ll just say they walked into your ambush. Don’t sweat that. All the higher-ups want is bodies.”

     “Yes, sir,” Allen said, and I saw the look in his eyes. It was a look of distilled hatred and 240anger, and when he grinned his skull-like grin, I knew he was going to kill those men on the slightest pretext. And, knowing that, I still did not repeat my order that the VC were to be captured if at all possible. It was my secret and savage desire that the two men die. In my heart, I hoped Allen would find some excuse for killing them, and Allen had read my heart. He smiled and I smiled back, and we both knew in that moment what was going to happen. There was a 245silent communication between us, an unspoken understanding: blood was to be shed. There is no mystery about such unspoken communica​tion. Two men who have shared the hardships and dangers of war come to know each other as intimately as two natural brothers who have lived together for years, one can read the other’s heart without a word being said.

     The patrol left, creeping off the outpost into the swallow​ing darkness. Not long afterward, I 250began to be teased by doubts. It was the other half of my double self, the calm and lucid half, warning that something awful was going to happen. The thought of recalling the patrol crossed my mind, but I could not bring myself to do it. I felt driven, in the grip of an inexorable power. Something had to be done.
     And something was done. Allen called on the radio and said they had killed one of the Viet 255Cong and captured the other. They were coming in with the prisoner. Letting out a whoop, I called Neal on the field phone. He said he had monitored Allen’s radio transmission. He congratulated us: “That’s good work your men did out there.”

     I was elated. Climbing out of the bunker, I excitedly told Coffell “They got both of ‘em! Both of ‘em! Yeeeah-hoo!” The night was hot and still. Off to the west, heat-lightning flashed like 260shellfire in the clouds that obscured the sky above the mountains. It was clear directly overhead, and I could see the fixed and lofty stars.

     Waiting by the perimeter for the patrol to return, I heard a burst of rifle fire and the distinctive roar of Crowe’s shot​gun. Allen called on the radio again: the prisoner had whipped a branch in Crowe’s face and tried to escape. They had killed him.

 265    “All right, bring the body in. I want to search it,” I said.

     They came in shortly. The five men were winded from their swift withdrawal and a little more excited than such veterans should have been. Allen was particularly over​wrought. He started laughing as soon as he was inside the perimeter wire. Perhaps it was the release from tension that made him laugh like that, tinny, mirthlessly. When he calmed down, he told me what had 270happened.
     “We sneaked into the ville, like you told us, sir. Crowe guided us to the house where he’d talked to the informant. It was empty, so we went to the hooch where the VC lived. Me, Crowe, and Lonehill went inside. The other two stayed on the trail to guard our rear. It was dark in the house, so Crowe turned on his flashlight and there’s the two Cong, sleepin’ in their beds. 275Lonehill goes into the other room and this girl in there starts screamin’. ‘Shut her up,’ I said and Lonehill cracks her with his rifle barrel.” Allen started to laugh again. So did Crowe and a few of the men who were listening. I was laughing, too. How funny. Old Lonehill hit her with his rifle. “So about then, one of the Cong jumps up in his bed and the broad starts screamin’ again. Crowe went in and slapped her and told her to keep her damned mouth shut. Then he comes back 280into the room and pops the Cong sittin’ up with his forty-five. The dude jumps up and runs - he was hit in the shoulder - and Crowe runs after him. He was runnin’ around outside yellin’ ‘Troi Oi! Troi Oi!’” (Oh God) “and then Crowe greased him and he didn’t do no more yellin’. The other dude made a break for the door, but Lonehill grabbed him. ‘Okay, let’s take him back,’ I said, and we moved the hell out. We was right at the base of the hill when the gook whipped 285the branch in Crowe’s face. Somebody said, ‘He’s makin’ a break, grease the motherfucker,’ and Lonehill greased him and Crowe blasted him with the shotgun. I mean, that dude was dead.” Madly and hysterically, we all laughed again.

     “Okay,” I said, “where’s the body?”

     “Right outside the wire, sir.”

 290    The dead man was lying on his belly. The back of his head was blown out, and, in the beam of my flashlight, his brains were a shiny gray mass. Someone kicked the body over onto its back and said, “Oh, excuse me, Mr. Charles, I hope that didn’t hurt,” and we all doubled over with laugh​ter. I beamed the flashlight on the corpse’s face. His eyes were wide and glowing, like the eyes in a stuffed head. While Coffell held the flashlight, I searched the body. There was 295something about the dead man that troubled me. It was not the mutilation - I was used to that. It was his face. It was such a young face, and, while I searched him, I kept thinking, He’s just a boy, just a boy. I could not understand why his youth bothered me; the VC’s soldiers, like our own, were all young men.

     Tearing off his bloodstained shirt, shredded, like his chest, by shotgun pellets, I looked for his 300papers. Someone quipped, “Hey, lieutenant, he’ll catch cold.” Everyone laughed again. I joined in, but I was not laughing as hard as before.


     There were no documents in the boy’s pockets, no car​tridge belt around his waist. There was nothing that would have proved him to be a Viet Cong. That troubled me fur​ther. I stood up and, taking the flashlight from Coffell, held it on the boy’s dead face.

305     “Did you find anything on the other one?” I asked Allen.

     “No, sir.”

     “No documents or weapons?” “No, sir. Nothing.”

     “How about the house? Did you find anything that looked like booby-trap gear in the house?”

     “No, sir.”

310    “And no forged papers or anything like that?”

     “No, sir. We didn’t find nothing.”

     The laughter had stopped. I turned to Crowe.

     “Are you sure this was one of the two that kid pointed out?”

     “Yes, sir,” Crowe said, but he looked away from me.

315   “Tell me again why you shot him.”

     “Whipped a branch in my face, like Allen said.” Crowe would not look at me. He looked at the ground. “He whipped a branch in my face and tried to make a break, so we wasted him.”

     The air seemed charged with guilt. I kept looking at the corpse, and a wave of horror rolled through me as I recog​nized the face. The sensation was like snapping out of a hypnotic trance. It 320was as jarring as suddenly awakening from a nightmare, except that I had awakened from one nightmare into another.

     “Allen, is that how it happened?” I asked. “The prisoner tried to escape, right?”

     “As far as I know, yes sir. Crowe shot him.”

     He was already covering himself. “Okay, if anyone asks you about this, you just say both 325these guys walked into your ambush. That’s what you’ll say, and you stick to that, all of you. They walked into your ambush and you killed one and captured the other. Then the prisoner tried to es​cape, so you killed him, too. Got that? You don’t tell any​body that you snatched him out of the village.”

     “Yes, sir,” Allen said.
330     “Shove off and pass that on to the others. You too, Crowe.”

     “Yes, sir,” Crowe said, hanging his head like a naughty child.

     They walked off. I stayed for a while, looking at the corpse. The wide, glowing, glassy eyes stared at me in ac​cusation. The dead boy’s open mouth screamed silently his innocence and our guilt. In the darkness and confusion, out of fear, exhaustion, and the brutal instincts acquired in 335the war, the marines had made a mistake. An awful mistake. They had killed the wrong man. No, not they; we. We had killed the wrong man, That boy’s innocent blood was on my hands as much as it was on theirs. I had sent them out there. My God, what have we done? I thought. I could think of nothing else. My God, what have we done? Please God, forgive us. What have we done?

340     Clicking off the flashlight, I told Coffell to get a burial party together I did not know what else to do with the body of Crowe’s informant, the boy named Le Dung.

     The typewriters in the quonset hut began to click promptly at eight o’clock, when the legal clerks came in to begin another routine day of typing up routine reports The red light on the electric coffee pot glowed and the electric fans on the clerks’ desks stirred the warm, dense air 345Having slept undisturbed for eight hours, as they did every night, and breakfasted on bacon and eggs, as they did every morning except when the division HO mess served pancakes, the clerks were happy, healthy-looking boys. They appeared slightly bored by their dull work, but were content in the knowledge that their rear-echelon jobs gave them what their contemporaries in the line companies lacked: a future.

350     Sitting in one corner of the hut with my defense counsel, Lieutenant Jim Rader, I looked at the clerks and wished I were one of them. How pleasant it would be to have a future again. A crowd of witnesses milled around outside: marines and Vietnamese villagers, the latter looking utterly bewil​dered by the courtroom drama in which they would soon play their assigned roles. One of the clerks muttered a curse as a fan blew some papers off his desk. The artificial gust 355blew against the wall behind him, rustling the pages of his short-timer’s calendar. The calendar was graced by a porno-graphic drawing, beneath which the word June was flanked by the numbers 1966. All the dates had been crossed off except today’s, the 30th, the day on which Lance Corporal Crowe was to be tried on two counts of premeditated mur​der.

     I was to appear as a witness for the prosecution. There was an absurdity in that, as I was to be 360tried on the same charges by the same prosecutor the following morning. But then, the fact that we had been charged in the first place was absurd. They had taught us to kill and had told us to kill, and now they were going to court-martial us for killing.

     A bound sheaf of papers as thick as a small-town phone book and entitled “Investigating Officer’s Report” sat on Rader’s desk. It was the product of five months’ labor on the part of 365various military lawyers, and the two top forms - DD457 and DD458 - contained the charges against me: “. . . in that First Lieutenant Philip J. Caputo…did mur​der with premeditation Le Dung, a citizen of the Republic of Vietnam. In that First Lieutenant Philip J. Caputo…did murder with premeditation Le Du…” There was a third charge, resulting from my panicked attempt to deny that I had tried to cover up the killings: “In that First Lieu​tenant Philip J. 370Caputo…did subscribe under lawful oath a false statement in substance as follows: ‘I did not tell them to stick by their statements,’ which statements he did not then believe to be true.”

     There was a lot of other stuff - statements by witnesses, inquiry reports, and so forth - but one square on form DD​457 was conspicuously blank. It was the square labeled EX​PLANATORY OR EXTENUATING CIRCUMSTANCES ARE SUB​MITTED HEREWITH. Early in the 375investigation, I wondered why the investigating officer had not submitted any explana​tory or extenuating circumstances. Later, after I had time to think things over, I drew my own conclusion: the ex​planatory or extenuating circumstance was the war. The killings had occurred in war. They had occurred, moreover, in a war whose sole aim was to kill Viet Cong, a war in which those ordered to do the killing often could not dis​tinguish the Viet Cong from civilians, a 380war in which civilians in “free-fire zones” were killed every day by weapons far more horrible than pistols or shotguns. The deaths of Le Dung and Le Du could not be divorced from the nature and conduct of the war. They were an inevitable product of the war. As I had come to see it, America could not intervene in a people’s war without killing some of the people. But to raise those points in explanation or extenuation would be to raise a host of ambiguous moral 385questions. It could even raise the question of the morality of American intervention in Vietnam; or, as one officer told me, “It would open a real can of worms.” Therefore, the five men in the patrol and I were to be tried as common criminals, much as if we had murdered two people in the course of a bank robbery during peacetime. If we were found guilty, the Marine Corps’ insti​tutional conscience would be clear. Six criminals, who, of course, did not represent 390the majority of America’s fine fighting sons, had been brought to justice. Case closed. If we were found innocent, the Marine Corps could say, “Justice has taken its course, and in a court-martial con​ducted according to the facts and the rules of evidence, no crime was found to have been committed.” Case closed again. Either way, the military won.

     “I was talking to your old skipper outside,” Rader said.

395     “He told me you seemed nervous.”


     “Well, how the hell do you expect me to feel? By tomor​row night, I could be on my way to Portsmouth for life.” Portsmouth, the U.S. Naval prison, is a penal institution that was said to combine the worst aspects of Marine boot camp and a medieval dungeon. Nevertheless, a life sentence there was better than the alternative - execution by firing squad. That possibility had 400been hanging over our heads until only a few weeks before, when it was ruled that our case would be tried as noncapital. We were not to be shot if found guilty. A boon!

     “Look, I don’t want you thinking that way,” Rader said. “I’m confident about what the outcome’ll be. Even if you’re convicted, we’ll appeal. All the way up to the President if we have to.”

405     “Terrific. Meanwhile I’ll have brig guards playing the drums on my head with billy clubs. Christ, you’ve heard what it’s like in that place. Can you imagine what they’ll do to a busted officer?”

     “I don’t want you getting bitter. I want you to do well on that stand today. I can tell you that I admire you for the way you’ve borne up under all this. Don’t mess it up now. Really, I would’ve 410cracked long ago.”

     “Well, I don’t break, Jim. That’s one thing I’m not going to do. I broke once and I’m never going to break again.”

     “Hell, when did you ever break?”

     “That night. The night I sent those guys out there. I just cracked. I couldn’t take it anymore. I 415was frustrated as hell and scared. If I hadn’t broken, I would’ve never sent those guys out.”

     “Oh, that. We’ve been over that a dozen times. No drama, okay? This is the real world. We’ve been over that, over and over. You told them to capture those Vietnamese and to kill them if they had to. You didn’t order an assas​sination. That’s what you’ll say on the stand and you’ll say it because it’s the truth.”

420     Rader and I had argued the point before. We had argued it from the day that he was appointed my defense counsel. That had been in February, after several villagers from Giao-Tri lodged a complaint with their village chief, who went to the district chief, a Vietnamese Army colonel, who took the matter to the American military authorities in Da​nang. Two young men from Giao-Tri, both civilians, had been assassinated by a marine patrol. The investigation got 425under way. The battalion was meanwhile establishing new permanent positions forward of the old front line. The Viet Cong protested the intrusion into their territory with land mines, infiltrators, mortars, and snipers. My platoon lost several more men, including Jones, who was seriously wounded by a booby trap. The other two platoons suffered about sixteen casualties between them, and C Company became so short-handed that Neal had to make riflemen out of 430the mortar crews attached to the company, leaving no one to man the eighty-ones.

     It was in this depressing atmosphere of steady losses that the five marines and I were called to battalion HQ to be questioned about what came to be known as “the incident at Giao-Tri.”

     Most of the particulars of that long and complicated in​quiry have faded from memory. What remains most vividly is the mind-paralyzing terror that came over me when the investigating 435officer told me I was under suspicion of mur​der. Murder. The word exploded in my ears like a mortar shell. Murder. But they were Viet Cong, I told the IO [investigating officer], a hearty lawyer-colonel from the division legal section. At least one of them was. No, he said, they did not appear to be VC. That had been confirmed by the village police chief and the village chief. Murder. I knew we had done some​thing wrong, but the idea of homicide had never occurred to 440me. Bewildered and frightened, I answered the colonel’s questions as best as I could, but when he asked, “Did you tell your men to stick to their statements?” I blurted out “No!”

     Accompanied by his reporter, a lance corporal who had tapped out my answers on a transcript machine, the colonel left a few minutes later with his papers, case books, and machine, all the paraphernalia from the tidy world of Divi​sion HQ, the world of laws, which are so easy to obey 445when you eat well, sleep well, and do not have to face the daily menace of death.

     I was badly shaken afterward, so badly I thought I was going to break in two. It was not only the specter of a murder charge that tormented me, it was my own sense of guilt. Lying in a tent at HQ, I saw that boy’s eyes again, and the accusation in their lifeless stare. Perhaps we had committed homicide without realizing it, in much the same way McKenna had. Perhaps the war 450had awakened something evil in us, some dark, malicious power that allowed us to kill without feeling. Well, I could drop the “perhaps” in my own case. Something evil had been in me that night. It was true that I had ordered the patrol to capture the two men if at all possible, but it was also true that I had wanted them dead. There was murder in my heart, and, in some way, through tone of voice, a gesture, or a stress on kill rather than capture, I had transmitted my 455inner violence to the men. They saw in my overly aggressive manner a sanction to vent their own brutal impulses. I lay there remembering the euphoria we had felt afterward, the way we had laughed, and then the sudden awakening to guilt. And yet, I could not conceive of the act as one of premeditated murder. It had not been committed in a vacuum. It was a direct result of the war. The thing we had done was a result of what the war had done to us.

460     At some point in this self-examination, I realized I had lied to the investigating officer. Walking over to the adju​tant’s tent, I called the colonel and said I wanted to amend my statement and to exercise my right to counsel. He returned to battalion HQ with Rader, a tall redhead in his late twenties.

     “Sir,” I said, “that part in my statement where I said that I didn’t tell the men to stick by their 465statements? Well, that isn’t true. I wasn’t thinking straight. I’d like it deleted and replaced with the truth.”

     Sorry, he said, that statement had been made under oath. It could not be deleted. That was the law. If I wished to say something else, fine, but the original statement would re​main in the record. The colonel smiled, quite pleased with himself and the inexorable logic of his precious 470law. He had me on another charge. I made another statement.

     Afterward, Rader and I had the first of our many long interviews. He asked me to describe everything that had happened that night.

     “All right,” I said, “but before I do, I want you to read this. I wrote it while I was waiting for you and the colonel to get here.”

475     I handed him a turgid essay on front-line conditions. In a guerrilla war, it read, the line between legitimate and il​legitimate killing is blurred. The policies of free-fire zones, in which a soldier is permitted to shoot at any human target, armed or unarmed, and body counts further confuse the fighting man’s moral senses. My patrol had gone out think​ing they were going after enemy soldiers. As for me, I had indeed been in an agitated state of mind and my ability to make 480clear judgments had been faulty, but I had been in Vietnam for eleven months…

     Rader crumpled up my literary ramblings and said, “This is all irrelevant, Phil.”

     “Why? It seems relevant to me.”

     “It won’t to a court-martial.”

     “But why? We didn’t kill those guys in Los Angeles, for Christ’s sake.”

485     Rader replied with a lecture on the facts of life. I cannot remember exactly what he said, but it was from him that I got the first indication that the war could not be used to explain the killings, because it raised too many embarrassing questions. We were indeed going to be charged as if we had killed both men on the streets of Los Angeles. The case was to ‘be tried strictly on the facts: who said what to whom; what was done and who did it. A detective story. The facts, 490Rader said, are what he wanted. He did not want philoso​phy.

     “Did you order your men to assassinate the two Viet​namese?” he asked.

     “No”

     “Did you say they were to capture them, or to shoot first and ask questions later?”

     “No. They were supposed to capture them, kill them if they had to. But the thing is, I must 495have given them the impression that I wouldn’t mind if they just killed them. Jim, I wasn’t right in the head that night…”
     “Don’t try temporary insanity. There’s a legal definition for that, and unless you were bouncing off walls, you won’t fit it.”

     “I’m not saying I was crazy. What I’m saying is that I was worn-out as hell. And scared. 500Goddamnit, I admit it. I was scared that one of those damned mines was going to get me if I didn’t do something. You’ve got to realize what it’s like out there, never knowing from one minute to the next if you’re going to get blown sky-high.”

     “Look, a court-martial isn’t going to care what it’s like out there. You’ve got to realize that. This isn’t a novel, so drop the dramatics. Nothing would’ve happened if those villagers hadn’t 505complained. But they did and that started an investigation. Now the machine’s in gear and it won’t stop until it’s run its course. Now, did anyone else hear you brief the patrol?”

     “Yeah, Sergeant Coffell and the platoon sergeant were there.”

     “So, in other words, you gave orders to capture if pos​sible, kill if necessary, or words to that effect. That’s what you said, and there are two witnesses who’ll corroborate you. Right?”

510     “That’s what I said. I’m not sure if I completely meant it. I had this feeling that night…a sort of violent feel​ing...”

     “Feelings aren’t admissible evidence. I’m not worried about your psyche. The important thing is whether or not you ordered your men to commit an assassination.”

     “Damnit, Jim. It keeps coming back to the war. I wouldn’t have sent those guys out there and 515they would never have done what they did if it hadn’t been’ for this war. It’s a stinking war and some of the stink rubs off on you after a while.”

     “Will you please drop that. If you ordered an assassination, tell me now. You can plead guilty and I’ll try to get you a light sentence - say, ten to twenty in Portsmouth.”

     “I’ll tell you this. I’ll have a helluva time living with myself if those guys get convicted and I 520get off.”

     “Do you want to plead guilty to murder?”

     “No.”
     “Why?”

     “Because it wasn’t murder. Whatever it was, it wasn’t murder. And if it was murder, then half 525the Vietnamese killed in this war have been murdered.”

     “No. You don’t want to plead guilty because you’re in​nocent as charged. You did not order an assassination.”

     “All right. I’m innocent.”

     “So, what we have is this: you gave orders to a patrol to capture two Viet Cong suspects who 530were to be killed only if necessary. That’s a lawful order in combat. And there are two NCOs who’ll support you on that, right?”

     “You’re the boss. Whatever you say. Just get me out of this mess.”

     “Don’t give me that ‘you’re the boss’ routine. Are those the facts or aren’t they?”

     “Yes, those are the facts.”

535     And so I learned about the wide gulf that divides the facts from the truth. Rader and I had a dozen similar con​ferences over the next five months. “Preparing testimony,” it was called. With each session, my admiration for Rader’s legal skills increased. He prepared my case with the hard-minded pragmatism of a battalion commander preparing an attack on an enemy-held hill. In time, he almost had me convinced that on the night of the killings, First Lieutenant Philip 540Caputo, in a lucid state of mind, issued a clear, legitimate order that was flagrantly disobeyed by the men under his command. I was fascinated by the testimony that was produced by our Socratic dialogues. Rader had it all written on yellow legal tablets, and I observed that not one word of it was perjured. There were qualifying phrases here and there – “to the best of my recollection,” “if I recall cor​rectly,” “words to that effect” - but there wasn’t a single lie in it. 545And yet it wasn’t the truth. Conversely, the attorneys for the enlisted men had them convinced that they were all good, God-fearing soldiers who had been obeying orders, as all good soldiers must, orders issued by a vicious killer-officer. And that was neither a lie nor the truth. The prosecu​tion had meanwhile marshaled facts to support its argument that five criminal marines, following the unlawful orders of their criminal platoon leader, had cold-bloodedly mur​dered two 550civilians whom they then tried to claim as con​firmed Viet Cong to collect the reward their captain had offered for enemy dead, a reprehensible policy not at all in keeping with the traditions of the U.S. Marine Corps. And that was neither a lie nor the truth. None of this testimony, none of these “facts” amounted to the truth. The truth was a synthesis of all three points of view: the war in general and U.S. military policies in particular were ultimately to 555blame for the deaths of Le Du and Le Dung. That was the truth and it was that truth which the whole proceeding was designed to conceal.

     Still, I was not without hope for an acquittal. Throughout the investigation, a number of officers told me: “What’s happened to you could’ve happened to anybody in this war.” In their eyes, I was a victim of circumstances, a good officer unjustly charged. I had an above-average 560service record, and was normal to outward appearances. Those other offi​cers saw in me a mirror image of themselves. I was one of them.

     And the enlisted men were all good soldiers. There wasn’t a mark on their records, not even for AWOL. Four of the five had been honorably wounded in combat. Two - Allen and Crowe - were family men. And yet, paradoxically, they had been accused of homicide. If the charges 565were proved, it would prove no one was guaranteed immunity against the moral bacteria spawned by the war. If such cruelty existed in ordinary men like us, then it logically existed in the others, and they would have to face the truth that they, too, harbored a capacity for evil. But no one wanted to make that recognition. No one wanted to confront his devil.

     A verdict of innocent would solve the dilemma. It would prove no crime had been committed. 570It would prove what the others wanted to believe: that we were virtuous Ameri​can youths, incapable of the act of which we had been accused. And if we were incapable of it, then they were too, which is what they wanted to believe of themselves.

     It was nine o’clock. Witnesses began to file into the neigh​boring hut, where the court-martial was being held. In our hut, the clerks continued to peck at their typewriters. Rader and I again 575went over my testimony. He told me how to behave on the stand: use a firm, but not strident, tone of voice; look at the six officers who were to be my judges when I answered questions; appear earnest and forthcoming.

     I was called sometime in the late afternoon. Crowe, sitting at the defendant’s table, looked very small. I confess I don’t remember a word of what I said on the stand. I only recall sitting 580there for a long time under direct and cross-examination, looking at the six-man court as I had been instructed to do and parroting the testimony I had rehearsed a hundred times. I must have sounded like Jack Armstrong, all-American boy. Later, during a recess, I heard the prose​cutor congratulating Rader. “Your client did very well on the stand today, Mister Rader.” I felt pleased with myself. I was good for something. I was a good witness.

585     The trial dragged on to its conclusion. In my tent await​ing the verdict, I felt in limbo, neither a free man nor a prisoner. I could not help thinking about the consequences of a guilty verdict in my own case. I would go to jail for the rest of my life. Everything good I had done in my life would be rendered meaningless. It would count for nothing. 

     I already regarded myself as a casualty of the war, a moral casualty, and like all serious 590casualties, I felt detached from everything. I felt very much like a man who has lost a leg or an arm, and, knowing he will never have to fight again, loses all interest in the war that has wounded him. As his physical energies are spent on overcoming his pain and on repairing his bodily injuries, so were all of my emotional energies spent on maintaining my mental balance. I had not broken during the five-month ordeal. I would not break. No matter what they did to me, 595they could not make me break. All my inner reserves had been committed to that battle for emotional and mental survival. I had nothing left for other struggles. The war simply wasn’t my show any longer. I had declared a truce between me and the Viet Cong, signed a personal armistice, and all I asked for now was a chance to live for myself on my terms. I had no argument with the Viet Cong. It wasn’t the VC who were threatening to rob me of my liberty, 600but the United States government, in whose service I had enlisted. Well, I was through with that. I was finished with governments and their abstract causes, and I would never again allow myself to fall under the charms and spells of political witch doctors like John F. Kennedy. The important thing was to get through this insane predicament with some degree of dig​nity. I would not break. I would endure and accept what​ever happened with grace. For enduring seemed to me 605an act of penance, an inadequate one to be sure, but I felt the need to atone in some way for the deaths I had caused.

     Lying there, I remembered the South Vietnamese insur​rection that had begun three months before and ended only in May. That insurrection, as much as my own situation, had awakened me to the senselessness of the war. The tragifarce began when General Thi, the commander of I 610Corps, was placed under arrest by the head of the Saigon government, Nguyen Cao Ky. Ky suspected him of plotting a coup. Thi’s ARVN divisions in I Corps rallied to his support. There were demonstrations and riots in Danang, where Thi’s headquarters were located. This prompted Ky to de​clare that Danang was in the hands of Communist rebels and to send his divisions to the city to “liberate it from the Viet Cong.” Soon, South Vietnamese soldiers were fighting street 615battles with other South Vietnamese soldiers as the two mandarin warlords contended for power.

     And while the South Vietnamese fought their intramural feud, we were left to fight the Viet Cong. In April, with the insurrection in full swing. One-Three [First Battalion, Third Marines] suffered heavy casualties in an operation in the Vu Gia Valley. Because of the investigation, I 620had been transferred from the battalion to regimental HQ, where I was assigned as an assistant operations officer. There, I saw the incompetent staff work that had turned the operation into a minor disaster. Part of the battalion was needlessly sent into a trap, and one company alone lost over one hundred of its one hundred and eighty men. Vietnamese civilians suffered too. I re​called seeing the smoke rising from a dozen bombed villages while our artillery pounded enemy 625positions in the hills and our planes darted through the smoke to drop more bombs. And I recalled seeing our own casualties at the division hospital. Captain Greer, the intelligence officer, and I were sent there from the field to interview the survivors and find out what had gone wrong. We knew what had gone wrong - the staff had fouled up - but we went along with the charade anyway. I can still see that charnel house, crammed with wounded, groaning men, their dressings 630en​crusted in filth, the cots pushed one up against the other to make room for the new wounded coming in, the smell Of blood, the stunned faces, one young platoon leader wrapped up like a mummy with plastic tubes inserted in his kidneys, and an eighteen-year-old private, blinded by shellfire, a bandage wrapped around his eyes as he groped down the aisle between the cots. “I can’t find my rack,” he called. “Can somebody help me find my rack?”

635     Meanwhile, the armies of Thi and Ky continued to spar in Danang. One morning in May, after I had been sent to division HQ, I led a convoy of marine riflemen into the city. They were part of a security detachment that was to guard American installations - not against the VC, but against the rebelling South Vietnamese troops. I returned to HQ in the afternoon. Division’s command post was on Hill 327, which gave us a ringside seat. Looking to the west, we could see 640marines fighting the VC; to the east, the South Vietnamese Army fighting itself. Early that evening, I saw tracers flying over the city, heard the sound of machine-gun fire, and then, in utter disbelief, watched an ARVN fighter plane strafing an ARVN truck convoy. It was incredible, a tableau of the madness of the war. One of the plane’s rockets fell wide of the mark, exploding near an American position and wound​ing three marines. The prop-driven Skyraider roared down 645again, firing its rockets and cannon once more into the convoy, packed with South Vietnamese soldiers. And I knew then that we could never win. With a government and an army like that in South Vietnam, we could never hope to win the war. To go on with the war would be folly - worse than folly: it would be a crime, murder on a mass scale.

     The insurrection ended on May 25. General Walt sent a message to all Marine units in I 650Corps. In it, he said that the “rebellion” had been crushed and that we could “look for​ward to an era of good relations with our South Vietnamese comrades-in-arms.”

     The message shocked me. Even Lew Walt, my old hero, was blind to the truth. The war was to go on, senselessly on.

     A few days later, my antiwar sentiments took an active form. The division HqCo commander 655ordered me to take part in a parade in honor of some visiting dignitary. I re​fused. He said I could not refuse to obey an order. I replied, yes, I could and would. I thought the whole thing was a mess, a folly and a crime, and I was not going to participate in some flag-waving sham. I was in no position to make such statements, he said. Oh yes I was. I was already up for the most serious crime in the book – one more charge made no difference to me. He could get somebody 660else to strut around to Sousa marches. Much to my surprise, I won.

     It was then that I tried to do a bit of proselytizing among the clerks in the HqCo office. The war, I said, was unwinnable. It was being fought for a bunch of corrupt politicians in Saigon. Every American life lost was a life wasted. The United States should withdraw now, before more men died. The clerks, their patriotism unwavering, having never heard a shot fired in anger, 665looked at me in disbelief. I wasn’t surprised. This was 1966 and talk such as mine was re​garded as borderline treason.

     “Sir,” said a lance corporal, “if we pulled out now, then all our efforts up to now would have been in vain.”

     “In other words, because we’ve already wasted thousands of lives, we should waste a few 670thousand more,” I said. “Well, if you really believe that ‘not in vain’ crap, you should volunteer for a rifle company and go get yourself killed, because you deserve it.”

     Rader walked into the tent in the early evening. “Phil,” he said, “they’ve come in with a verdict on Crowe. Not guilty on all counts.”

     I sat up and lit a cigarette, not sure what to think. “Well, I’m happy for him. He’s got a wife 675and kids. But how does that make it look for us?”

     “Well, I think it looks good. Just hang loose until tomor​row. You go up at oh-nine-hundred”

     Curiously, I slept very well that night. Maybe it was my sense of fatalism. Worrying could do no good. Whatever was going to happen, I could do nothing about it. The next morning, I ate an enormous breakfast and managed a few quips about the condemned man’s last meal. Then, long 680be​fore I was due, I walked to the quonset hut, feeling much as I had before going into action: determined and resigned at the same time. I waited in the hut for about an hour, watching the same clerks sitting at the same desks typing the same reports. The red light on the coffee pot glowed and the fans whirred, rustling the pages of the calendar, which was now turned to July. The same crowd of witnesses milled around outside. Captain Neal was there. He looked worn 685and old. I went out and offered him a cigar. Smoking it, his eyes fixed on the ground, he shook his head and said, “We lost half the company. I hope they realize that. We’d lost half the company then.”

     At a quarter to nine, Rader called me back inside.

     “Here’s the situation. The general is thinking of dropping all charges against the rest of you 690because Crowe was acquitted. In your own case, you’d have to plead guilty to the third charge and accept a letter of reprimand from the general. What do you want to do?”

     “You mean if I plead guilty to charge three, there’s no court-martial?”

     “Unless you want one.”

     “Of course I don’t want one. Okay, I’m guilty.”

695     “All right,” Rader said ebulliently, “wait here. I’ll let them know and get back to you.”

     I paced nervously for fifteen or twenty minutes. It looked as if my instincts had been right: the higher-ups wanted this case off their backs as much as I wanted it off mine. Wild thoughts filled my head. I would atone in some way to the families of Le Du and Le Dung. When the war was over, I would go back to Giao-Tri and…and what? I didn’t know.

700    Rader returned grinning. “Congratulations,” he said, pumping my hand. “The charges have been dropped. The general’s going to put a letter of reprimand in your jacket, but hell, all that’ll do is hurt your chances for promotion to captain. You’re a free man. I also heard that the ad​jutant’s cutting orders for you. You’ll be going home in a week, ten days at most. It’s all over.”

705     We stood waiting in the sun at the edge of the runway. There were about a hundred and fifty of us, and we watched as a replacement draft filed off the big transport plane. They fell into formation and tried to ignore the dusty, tanned, ragged looking men who jeered them. The replacements looked strangely young, far younger than we, and awkward and bewildered by this scorched land to which an indifferent government had sent them. I did not join in the mockery. I 710felt sorry for those children, knowing that they would all grow old in this land of endless dying. I pitied them, knowing that out of every ten, one would die, two more would be maimed for life, another two would be less seriously wounded and sent out to fight again, and all the rest would be wounded in other, more hidden ways.

     The replacements were marched off toward the convoy that waited to carry them to their 715assigned units and their assigned fates. None of them looked at us. They marched away. Shouldering our seabags, we climbed up the ramp into the plane, the plane we had all dreamed about, the grand, mythological Freedom Bird. A joyous shout went up as the transport lurched off the runway and climbed into the placid sky. Below lay the rice paddies and the green, folded hills where we had lost our friends and our youth.

720     The plane banked and headed out over the China Sea, toward Okinawa, toward freedom from death’s embrace. None of us was a hero. We would not return to cheering crowds, parades, and the pealing of great cathedral bells. We had done nothing more than endure. We had survived, and that was our only victory.
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